dộng đất。幫助。Emergency。lửa。Refugio。 endios。Rescue。瞭解。Information。Emergence cứu thoát。地震。Desastre。Nạn lụt。Earthqua n thấy。Información。緊急狀況。Flood。hông t 。幫助。Emergency。lửa。Refugio。援救。Disa cue。瞭解。Ir

地震・瞭解・Li 地震・Desast mación・緊急 gency・lửa・ Information tre・Nan lụt 急狀況・Floo Refugio・援救 mergencia・ Earthquake

# Disaster Preparedness in Urban Immigrant Communities:

Lessons Learned from Recent Catastrophic Events and Their Relevance to Latino and Asian Communities in Southern California





A Tomás Rivera Policy Institute and Asian Pacific American Legal Center Report

Prepared by
Ann Bessie Mathew, MPH & Kimiko Kelly, MPP

icia · Awarenakes · 火 · No
i · ¡Socorro!
ter · Tình trạ
ness · 隱蔽所
i trú tránh ·
! · cứu tôi · ›
ig khẫn cấp
lai họa · Terro
Rescate · 水
災難 · Inund



The Tomás Rivera Policy Institute (TRPI) advances informed policy on key issues affecting Latino communities through objective and timely research contributing to the betterment of the nation.

The Tomás Rivera Policy Institute University of Southern California School of Policy, Planning and Development 650 Childs Way, Lewis Hall, Suite 102 Los Angeles, California 90089-0626 Tel: 213-821-5615 • Fax: 213-821-1976

www.trpi.org

With offices at: Columbia University, New York, New York In collaboration with



The mission of the Asian Pacific American Legal Center of Southern California (APALC) is to advocate for civil rights, provide legal services and education and build coalitions to positively influence and impact Asian Pacific Americans and to create a more equitable and harmonious society.

Asian Pacific American Legal Center 1145 Wilshire Blvd, 2nd Floor Los Angeles, CA 90017 Tel: 213-977-7500

Fax: 213-977-7595 www.apalc.org

© 2008 The Tomás Rivera Policy Institute Unauthorized duplication of this report is a violation of copyright. June 2008

The Tomás Rivera Policy Institute asserts a neutral position regarding public policy issues. Interpretations and conclusions presented in TRPI publications are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the Institute, its trustees, officers or other staff members, or to the organizations which support its research.

TRPI is an independent, nonprofit organization that is an affiliated research unit of the School of Policy, Planning, and Development at the University of Southern California

This report made possible with a special grant from the:

## FORD FOUNDATION

APALC also supported by the Cyrus Chung Ying Tang Foundation



#### **Acknowledgements**

We acknowledge several TRPI and APALC staff members for their assistance on this report. Special thanks to Harry P. Pachon, Ph.D., Stewart Kwoh, Dan Ichinose, David Fabienke, Ming Li, Wendy Chavira, Glenda Flores, and Pei-Ying Shen. We also would like to thank Tuyet Duong of the Asian American Justice Center (AAJC).

Ann Bessie Mathew, MPH

Tomás Rivera Policy Institute

Kimiko Kelly, MPP

Asian Pacific American Legal Center

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Executive Summary	6
Introduction and Objectives	8
Methodology	9
Literature Review	9
Case Studies	9
Interviews	10
Focus Groups	10
Lessons Learned from Past Disasters	11
Improve Language Assistance	11
Develop Relationships with Key Organizations	11
Hire Community Liaisons	12
Involve Ethnic and Community Organizations in Disaster Plan	nning12
Assessing Disaster-Related Services in Southern California	13
Disaster-Preparedness Education Services	13
Warning Communication Services	15
Disaster-Response Services	16
Challenges	17
Suggestions for Service Improvement	19
Experiences of Immigrant Community Members	20
Perceived Likelihood of Disaster	20
Personal Preparedness	21
Barriers to Preparedness	22
Exposure to Disaster-Preparedness Education	23
Suggestions for Improving Preparedness Education	24
Knowledge of Warning Communications	25
Emergency Response Issues	26
Conclusions and Recommendations	29
References	30
e u .e	22

## **Executive Summary**

Southern California is at high risk for a major natural disaster. Yet, few assessments have been made to discover how communities with large populations of Limited English Proficient (LEP) immigrants would fare in such an event. It has also not been established whether LEP immigrants who may be poor and have low levels of education have the information necessary to prepare for and survive a disaster, or whether the social networks, formats, and language in which they can successfully receive and respond to emergency information are in place.

Southern California is at high risk for a major natural disaster.

To address these issues, examine past efforts, and build policy recommendations for the future, the Tomás Rivera Policy Institute (TRPI) and the Asian Pacific American Legal Center of Southern California (APALC) undertook a joint project that examined several LEP immigrant communities in Southern California. After conducting interviews with emergency service personnel, both in local governments and in nonprofit organizations, and holding focus groups with LEP community members in their native languages, we are able to provide the following findings about this important issue.

#### **KEY FINDINGS**

- 1. Both county and city government agencies and nonprofit relief organizations, for the most part, are not providing culturally sensitive disaster preparedness education in languages that reflect the demographics of the populations being served.
  - While some organizations provide printed disaster preparedness materials in languages other than English, most materials are not fully available in languages that reflect the needs of the population. Disaster preparedness trainings and workshops for community members are available primarily in English. Service providers interviewed are concerned about this gap in services and cite lack of connections to the community and funding as barriers to improvement.
- 2. Currently, there are no tools in place to provide immediate translation of all emergency information in a rapid manner to LEP populations in Southern California.
  - Coordination among county and city disaster service agencies has improved greatly in recent years, setting into place area-wide communication plans in the event of a wide-spread disaster such as an earth-quake or terrorist attack. Yet, plans to communicate in various languages to the diverse population in Southern California have not been established. Currently, plans to communicate with LEP communities consist of press releases in English being sent to ethnic media outlets with the reliance on these media to provide translation of this critical information.
- 3. First responders rely on bilingual family members, often children, to provide translation for officers, deputies, fire personnel, etc.
  - While nearly all first responders have access to some form of translation service, whether it be by telephone or through a network of county or city staff, this form of communication is often not utilized for immediate communication. Nonprofit relief organizations also are short on bilingual staff and volunteers to provide communication during a disaster and report having to rely on bilingual family members or community members for translation services.

- tos Shelter cứu thoát 地震 Desastre Nạn lụt Earthquakes 火 Nơi trú tránh Rescate 水災 Fire w Disaster Tình trang khỗn cấn 資訊 Help! Incondice Rescue 瞭解 Information Emergencia
- **4.** Latino, Chinese, and Vietnamese focus group participants named their respective native language radio stations as the first place they turn to for emergency information, highlighting the importance of these ethnic media outlets as a tool for communication.
  - The use of ethnic radio stations was especially noted as the most efficient and rapid method of communicating to their communities. Through our interviews, it was not clear that county-level and city-level first responders had established connections to the local ethnic media which serve the various LEP communities in their jurisdictions.
- 5. All first response personnel interviewed stated that immigration status is not considered when providing disaster services, but none of the agencies interviewed had in place mechanisms by which to reassure the public that immigration status is not asked during disaster response.
  - Community members in all four focus groups agreed that all immigrants, both legal and undocumented, would have access to disaster services, citing that the safety of all residents would be the primary concern. But all agreed that populations that are undocumented would be fearful of coming forward for assistance.

#### POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS

Disaster service personnel and government officials should have a key role in improving dissemination of disaster preparedness education and addressing the service response needs of LEP immigrants. The following recommendations are offered to better serve these populations:

- **1.** Local disaster service providers and public information officers should evaluate the language needs of preparedness education materials in their service areas.
- 2. Local providers should ensure simulation exercises incorporate the language needs of LEP community members. This includes an assessment of available language resources and their anticipated utilization during the course of a disaster, as well as awareness of de-coupling immigration enforcement from humanitarian aid.
- **3.** State governments should establish working groups with service personnel, nonprofit organizations serving ethnic communities, and ethnic media on how to better promote preparedness materials.
- **4.** Federal and state governments should create a baseline of minimal secondary language resources for diverse jurisdictions.
- **5.** Immigration enforcement should be bifurcated from humanitarian aid.

"Sometimes, in the middle of a disaster, even for single family fires, we have to rely on the family members, sometimes the children of the victims. We would rather obviously have workers who speak Spanish that could work directly with the clients.

Response Director of a nonprofit disaster services provider

## • Desastre • Nạn lụt • Earthquakes • 火 • Nơi trú tránh • Rescate • 水災 • Fires • Sự nhận thấy • Información

Introduction and Objectives

The question for Southern California is not if a disaster will occur, but when. The unprecedented rash of wildfires in fall 2007 that devastated Southern California have shown the terrible human toll of such cataclysmic events, as well as the massive disruption to public services, transportation, and telecommunication systems that caused further suffering to victims. In addition, the US Geological Survey forecasts that California has a 46 percent chance of a magnitude 7.5 or larger earthquake during the next 30 years. Such an earthquake is more likely in Southern California. An earthquake, such as one of magnitude 7.5, could kill as many as 18,000 people, injure up to 268,000 and displace as many as 735,000 families (Bernstein, 2005).

Given the likelihood of a large-scale disaster in Southern California, there are a number of questions about how well immigrant communities are prepared to face such an event. Since Southern California urban areas have a large foreign-born population, policy makers and emergency service organizations need to focus on assessing the needs of this community. There have been few comprehensive efforts to examine communities with large populations of Limited English Proficient (LEP)¹ immigrants who may be poor and have low levels of education. Much work needs to be done to find if these populations have acquired what they need to know in order to prepare for such an event and to discover if the social networks, formats, and languages in which they can receive and respond to emergency information are in place. Indeed, much can be learned from immediate and ongoing responses to natural disasters, such as the 1994 Northridge Earthquake and the 2005 Hurricane Katrina on the Gulf Coast, and their impact on immigrant communities.

To assess the state of disaster preparedness for immigrant and Limited English Proficient (LEP) communities, the Tomás Rivera Policy Institute (TRPI) and the Asian Pacific American Legal Center (APALC) conducted a joint study of select Asian and Latino immigrant communities in Southern California. The specific objectives of the study were to:

- Explore lessons learned from past disasters as they relate to immigrant communities.
- Explore barriers in preparing immigrant and LEP communities for disaster response.
- Analyze challenges in access to disaster services due to language and cultural barriers.
- Assess to what extent formal and informal disaster-related networks and resources are prepared to serve these vulnerable populations.

The study's goal is to develop realistic policy recommendations for local emergency response personnel as well as city, county, state, and federal officials, and to improve dissemination of emergency information and equitable delivery of services to LEP immigrant communities, not only in Southern California, but also in areas with similar demographics throughout the nation.

The question for Southern

California is not if a disaster will occur, but when.

<sup>1</sup> The US Census Bureau defines Limited English Proficient (LEP) as persons who speak English less than "very well."

## Methodology

Qualitative research techniques provided an in-depth exploration of disaster preparedness in large, low-income LEP communities. Stakeholder interviews and focus groups were conducted in four Southern California cities within two counties with high immigrant Latino, Chinese, and Vietnamese populations that could pose cultural and language challenges to county or city emergency response personnel. The populations in the selected cities had foreign-born rates ranging from 43 to 53 percent and LEP rates ranging from 38 to 52 percent. In addition, we conducted a literature review as well as interviews with response service personnel and community organizations in the 1994 Northridge earthquake and Hurricane Katrina.

**TABLE 1. Southern California Demographics** 

Race and Ethnicity	Population	Foreign Born	Limited English Proficient
Latino	41%	46%	45%
White	40%	9%	4%
Asian	12%	64%	40%
African American	8%	6%	3%
American Indian	2%	15%	16%
Pacific Islander	1%	22%	15%
Total	100%	30%	23%

Source: Population, U.S. Census 2003; Foreign Born and LEP, U.S. Census 2000

Note: Figures are for the inclusive population (single race and multirace combined) and are not exclusive of Latino, except for White, which is single race, non Latino. Population figures are not mutually exclusive, therefore column may not sum to the total. Southern California is defined as a seven county area including Imperial, Los Angeles, Orange, Riverside, San Bernardino, San Diego, and Ventura Counties.

Minority communities have higher levels of vulnerability (unmitigated by disaster policies) due to their variation in culture, language, immigrant backgrounds, and community isolation.

Data collection consisted of four phases:

#### Literature review

TRPI and APALC researchers extensively reviewed literature related to disaster preparedness and response in immigrant and LEP communities. Since there have not been many studies on this topic, we expanded the search to include service to communities of color and evidence of disparity in treatment. A review of case studies written on governmental and major nonprofit service delivery to immigrant foreign-born populations after Hurricane Katrina and the 1994 Northridge earthquake was conducted to explore lessons learned about the effectiveness of responding to immigrant communities. The literature indicates that minority communities have higher levels of vulnerability (unmitigated by disaster policies) due to their variation in culture, language, immigrant backgrounds, and community isolation.

#### Case studies

To document the most pressing challenges faced in providing services to immigrant communities, interviews to produce case studies were conducted with agencies that assisted in areas with large immigrant and LEP populations in quake-affected areas of Northridge and hurricane disaster areas of Louisiana.<sup>3</sup> Researchers contacted emergency service providers involved in the Northridge earthquake, identified potential subjects, and interviewed three emergency responders involved in the disaster. In addition, 12 interviews were conducted with disaster service providers and community organizations in New Orleans metropolitan areas highly impacted by Hurricane Katrina and having large immigrant, LEP, Asian, or Latino populations. Interviewees were chosen based on several criteria: 1) they had resided and worked in the Greater New

<sup>2</sup> Organization and agency refer to governmental, private, or nonprofit groups. The terms are used interchangeably in this report.

<sup>3</sup> New Orleans was selected from the four potential sites in the Gulf Coast since Hurricane Katrina impacted a greater number of Asian Americans and Latino Americans in this city than in any other metropolitan area in the Gulf Coast. The other three sites included Biloxi, MS; Houston, TX; and Bayou la Batre, AL.

E • Desastre • Nạn lụt • Earthquakes • 火 • Nơi trú tránh • Rescate • 水災 • Fires • Sự nhận thấy • Información

"Within the Los Angeles area, we have communities that are enclaves, where you basically can work, live, and go to school in that community and never necessarily leave that community and not have to use English."

Staff Analyst at a county-level public health agency

Orleans area prior to Hurricane Katrina; 2) they had in-depth knowledge regarding community disaster relief networks and/or emergency management and response; and 3) their service and target populations consisted of high numbers of LEP individuals and families. Eligible emergency personnel were asked about services available before and after the Northridge earthquake or Hurricane Katrina. They also were asked about the lessons gained from their experiences.

#### **Interviews**

In the selected cities in Southern California, officials from city and county departments and agencies involved in emergency response and disaster preparedness were interviewed to identify and map the existing emergency response network of government, nonprofit, and private resources, including mainstream and/or ethnic media. Additionally, we analyzed their current measures to reach non-English speaking community residents who reside in the ethnic areas. Researchers conducted 34 interviews with personnel representing 25 city-level and county-level disaster service providers, non-profit organizations, and ethnic organizations that serve Latino and Asian populations in the selected areas. Potential participants were identified by contacting traditional city and county government and nonprofit disaster service providers and attending disaster-preparedness workshops, networking conferences, and other local disaster-related events.

#### Focus groups

TRPI and APALC project staff conducted four focus groups in the selected California cities with community members—one Chinese, one Vietnamese, and two Latino. The goals were to: 1) determine the extent of knowledge of official emergency response services and resources; 2) identify any barriers (i.e. language and/or immigrant status), real or perceived, that community members face in obtaining appropriate resources and/or information; and 3) identify ongoing information dissemination networks that exist and are used by community members in the targeted ethnic communities. Surname lists were used to identify and screen participants for the Latino focus groups. Participants in the Asian groups were recruited via a variety of methods including community organizations, personal contacts, flyers, emails, and announcements on ethnic radio stations. All participants in the Chinese, Vietnamese, and one of the Latino groups were foreign-born and relatively recent immigrants. In the second Latino group, all were born in the United States. Overall, 81 percent of participants spoke English less than "very well." Sessions were conducted in the respective languages.

#### **Lessons Learned from Past Disasters**

Lessons drawn from our literature review and case studies illustrate the importance of addressing cultural, linguistic, and trust issues in terms of preparedness. In general and at all levels, government and private agencies need to better coordinate and enlist translations of vital documents, mobilize interpreters in communities that need them, and consider cultural and linguistic needs when creating emergency preparedness plans in order to "respond effectively to the next disaster or public health threat" (Muniz, 2006). These issues were raised consistently across the literature and in case studies. Specific lessons include:

Improve language assistance

Interviewees for the case studies consistently noted language barriers must be recognized and addressed. Prior to Hurricane Katrina, preparedness activities to educate LEP populations in New Orleans were minimal or nonexistent (Vielman, 2005; NILC, 2005). Post-Katrina, most organizations interviewed have committed to providing more information in different languages.

During the hurricane, there was not enough time for disaster-response services to be tailored to communities (Le, 2006; Choi, 2005). The Asian American Justice Center recommends "improving infrastructure for language and cultural services across federal, state and local governments" with emergency radio lines in major languages, multi-lingual call centers, expanding the bilingual workforce, and developing language and cultural advisory boards (Choi, 2005).

Disaster service personnel interviewed for the case studies stated equipment such as computerized translation devices went for weeks without power during Katrina, further demonstrating the need to hire bilingual staff. After the Northridge earthquake, one nonprofit disaster service provider developed a book with appropriate phrases in different languages. Due to cost, the book was not adopted by other chapters.

#### Develop relationships with key organizations

Following the 1994 Northridge earthquake, a formal collaboration was formed to improve networking of disaster service providers in one Southern California county. Members include government agencies, nonprofits, and faith-based organizations working together to conduct public education efforts and distribute materials.

Hurricane Katrina presented an opportunity for new networks of communities and coalitions of organizations to work together to serve LEP individuals. Prior to Katrina, partnerships with ethnic organizations trusted by immigrant populations were not well-used as vessels for communicating disaster preparedness in New Orleans. Post-Katrina organizations have acknowledged the need to work with a variety of community leaders in order to gain approval and entry to deliver messages. One interviewee said, "It's very encouraging to see collective effort to take care of the community—not only Hispanic but also Vietnamese. Everyone is pitching in to make sure that information (is) there."

One nonprofit emergency provider had a LEP strategy which involved working with the city and faith-based institutions in order to target minorities and special needs populations. Within the Latino community, such collaborations have resulted in the distribution of education materials by ethnic organizations heavily involved in the community and the development of forums to present preparedness information. It also helped establish a network of organizations advocating for and providing services to the Latino community. The provider has worked with this network of organizations to plan how to deal with LEP people and make them feel comfortable in the event of an emergency.

"It wasn't until they trusted that you weren't going to harm them that they came out."

Interviewee from service organization in New Orleans

"An individual wants to be able to relate to someone if they have a problem."

New Orleans interviewee

#### Hire community liaisons

It is integral to community safety and confidence that community liaisons who understand the cultures and languages of LEP groups are engaged. One interviewee in New Orleans stated, "An individual wants to be able to relate to someone if they have a problem." They also said they desired information from a source higher than the media.

However, the priest of a Catholic parish, an interviewee, and a leader of the East New Orleans community all said that before and during Hurricane Katrina, police, fire department, and other parish officials never reached out to the community culturally or developed any language capacity to provide assistance to the community. The interviewee said outreach to ethnic communities began after Hurricane Katrina, including the hiring of a bilingual Vietnamese American woman in a local council member's office and establishing new relationships with the fire chief and city government. Also after the disaster, one nonprofit emergency provider hired a bilingual Vietnamese American case management specialist who acted as a liaison to the community. Some parishes have community liaisons that bridge city governments and the public. In addition, they can help convey information about an impending storm to the public.

#### Involve ethnic and community organizations in disaster planning

Community groups played a crucial role during the Northridge and Katrina relief (Bolin, 1998; Tang, 2006; Choi, 2005; Muniz, 2006; Bernstein, 2005; AAJC, 2007). Most LEP populations discovered ad hoc ways to be prepared and link with community groups and networks during the storm. For example, one interviewee noted his organization bridged distribution centers for the general public with trusted agencies, such as churches, in order to serve the Latino community and make them feel safe. He said, "It wasn't until they trusted that you weren't going to harm them that they came out." Some were afraid to leave their surroundings for food and inoculations. As a result, the organization arranged for food and medical assistance to come into the communities during the disaster.

One interviewee explained that experiences from Hurricane Katrina illustrated strategies to evacuate and return to the city needed improvement. After the disaster, a practice drill involving the Vietnamese-American community was conducted. A Latino community organization attended and offered recommendations to incorporate their needs in an evacuation drill. Registration of individuals as they boarded buses to shelters in Louisiana and Mississippi was raised as a way to help keep families together. Registration also would allow organizations to follow up to see that needs are met in shelters.

<sup>4</sup> In New Orleans, a parish is the equivalent of counties in Southern California.

## Assessing Disaster-Related Services in Southern California

Interviews were conducted with emergency providers and community organizations serving the four Southern California cities studied in this report. Respondents were asked to identify disaster-related services rendered or that would be rendered; gaps or potential gaps; and their recommendations for improving services. This section organizes the data respective to the initial stages of a disaster event: preparedness, warning communication, and response (Fothergill, 1996). It concludes with a discussion on challenges and suggestions for service improvement.

#### Disaster preparedness education services

For the purposes of this report, disaster-preparedness education is defined as printed materials produced to educate the public, in-person trainings or workshops held by disaster preparedness educators for the public, and educational campaigns produced for the media such as television, radio, print, and the Internet. In one county, about half the agencies interviewed produced original materials and the other half made use of others' materials. In another county, two agencies produced its own materials and the rest utilized others' materials. All but three of the agencies conducted full disaster-preparedness training programs for their constituents or informational workshops for the public. All had some relationship with the media, either involving dissemination of disaster-preparedness information or with information about other aspects of their organizations' work.

#### Printed materials

Among the agencies that produce printed materials, six had materials fully available in Spanish and three had materials fully available in six Asian languages. Two additional agencies had some materials translated and printed in Spanish. One of the main providers of printed disaster-preparedness materials for one county has only half of their materials translated into Spanish and none in any Asian languages. Their extensive campaign includes a series of bulletins, special publications, monthly focus sheets, magnets, and brochures. Most of these materials are available on their web site in English and about half are available in Spanish.

Of those with printed materials, another county agency has materials fully translated in multiple languages. This year it embarked on an emergency-preparedness campaign with printed materials and public service announcements available in 12 languages, including English, Spanish, Chinese, Korean, Thai, Khmer, Tagalog, Vietnamese, Armenian, Russian, Arabic, and Farsi. The organization also hired marketing companies to reach out to Asian and Latino populations and has more than 150 staff trained to conduct educational presentations. They adjust campaign messaging to the needs of racial and ethnic groups within the county to appeal to cultural sensitivities.

At the local level, one city police department adapted a countywide disaster education campaign for the public as well as subgroups including the elderly, people with disabilities, and children. The campaign has a Spanish version with free translated brochures and a Web site. It tailors to the Latino community with photos of Latinos in materials. A second city provides disaster preparedness information in Spanish, consisting mainly of articles in the city newsletter. The third city's police department translated materials into multiple languages, but its fire department does not have a public education component for ethnic communities. The fourth city's police and fire departments do not produce any disaster-preparedness materials in languages other than English.

Among nonprofit agencies, one provider produced a brochure magnet in conjunction with a county campaign in English and Spanish, but not in any Asian languages. Another provider on a Web site offered materials in Spanish and seven Asian languages (Cambodian, Chinese, Japanese, Korean, Laotian, Tagalog, and Vietnamese), but one of its local chapters had materials readily available only in Spanish.

"We don't mirror the population in terms of our numbers... we have the people that speak those same languages, but not in appropriate numbers for our population."

Preparedness Education Director for nonprofit organization

## 🔋 • Desastre • Nạn lụt • Earthquakes • 火 • Nơi trú tránh • Rescate • 水災 • Fires • Sự nhận thấy • Información

#### Outreach efforts

"We don't care whose name is on it. If it's quality information, we'll disseminate it. It could be (the) gas company, Red Cross, Homeland Security; if there's literature that should be distributed; we'll get it out there and take it to our community fairs."

— Community Liaison, Police Department

All of the agencies make materials available at workshops, community fairs and festivals, and at their locations. Such outreach efforts are crucial in getting the information into the hands of community members. One county service provider trained more than 150 staff to conduct outreach for a disaster-preparedness campaign. Another county service provider with a smaller staff has one public information officer for all outreach and publicity. Materials are distributed to government agencies and organizations.

Groups, such as nonprofits that provide little or no disaster related services, also assist in disseminating educational materials by hosting disaster-preparedness workshops or distributing materials to constituents.

#### Training of community residents

There are several types of training efforts conducted to prepare the public for a disaster, such as fire department-sponsored disaster-preparedness courses, one- or two-day workshops for public education, or the training of volunteers and community organizations.

Developed in 1985 by the Los Angeles City Fire Department, Community Emergency Response Team (CERT) has been adopted and expanded nationwide. CERT is offered by local fire departments in three of the studied cities and educates community members on disaster preparedness as well as training them in basic disaster-response skills, such as light search and rescue medical operations. Members can apply their training to assisting their community, particularly after a disaster when first responders are not readily available. Among the three cities with a CERT program, trainings are conducted in Spanish in ethnic neighborhoods to cater to the Latino population in one city. However, the other two cities offer the training predominantly in English due to limited staff and funding. The lack of CERT training in languages other than English is significant since both other service providers expressed a reliance on CERT for preparedness education.

A faith-based organization interviewed conducts community outreach and education in Asian languages. Another nonprofit holds disaster-preparedness workshops and community trainings as part of its area's disaster service provider network, but it does not make translators available.

One local chapter of a nonprofit service provider hired a bilingual community liaison of Vietnamese descent to reach out to the Vietnamese community and inform them of topics such as how to prepare for a disaster, what to do during a disaster, and CPR training. Information and trainings are presented in Vietnamese and in ethnic neighborhoods for LEP populations. Initially the liaison worked with 12 volunteers of Vietnamese descent. However, only 6 or 7 were able to communicate in Vietnamese. Now there are 40 to 45 volunteers who are bilingual. A similar position was recently created to serve Latinos.

Another chapter of the same organization currently conducts some disaster-preparation education efforts in Spanish and Chinese, but not to the extent that it is representative of the needs of its community. The preparedness education director of the chapter said:

"We don't mirror the population in terms of our numbers...we have the people that speak those same languages, but not in appropriate numbers for our population."

Their capacity to educate in multiple languages is improving, though, with a recent grant to translate educational materials into six languages (Spanish, Chinese, Vietnamese, Tagalog, Korean, and Japanese) and recruit 124 bilingual trainers to conduct preparedness education. The goal of the project is to train more than 20,000 community members in various languages.

"We also find that many folks trot along their kids that do speak English. We have a lot of things aimed at kids."

Assistant Administrator for a county Office of Emergency Management 状況•Flood•hông tin•¡Socorro!•cứu tôi•災難•Inundaciones•động đất•幫助•Emergency•lửa•Refugio•‡ notos•Shelter•cứu thoát•地震•Desastre•Nạn lụt•Earthquakes•火•Nơi trú tránh•Rescate•水災•Fires•

Another training method is the train-the-trainer model, where agencies train community organizations and promotoras to educate their local communities. In one county, community organizations have welcomed the training, but have fallen short with educating the community they serve. One community organization had participated in the program, but admits disseminating limited information to the community. The main reason being the difficulty community groups face sustaining a disaster-education program without enough staff or funding. Disaster preparedness has a low priority compared with other services that take priority.

#### Ethnic media relations

One important method of disaster-preparedness education is through media outlets such as television, radio, print, and the Internet. Disseminating information through the media is an effective way to reach a broad swath of public with minimal resources and funds. Among LEP immigrant populations, the ethnic media is a valuable tool. Ethnic media play an important role in providing LEP populations with invaluable information about local issues in their native languages. There are 32 Spanish radio stations and six Vietnamese, Chinese and other Asian language stations in Southern California.

Thirteen agency representatives stated they had relationships with the Spanish-speaking media and seven agencies with the Asian language media. One county service provider had the most extensive relationship with ethnic media, ensuring coverage with marketing firms hired to pursue dissemination of information in both language groups. Another county service provider also has established relationships with media in both language groups, but without dedicated resources to ensure broad coverage of their educational campaign.

Other agencies have public information officers that send information to ethnic media of both language groups. The local police department in one city had regular interaction with the Spanish speaking press. In another city, police and fire department staff were not aware of their agencies using the ethnic media.

#### Warning communication services

Warning communication is defined as communication with the public immediately before and during a disaster. Examples of warning communication in Southern California include orders to evacuate due to wildfires, messages regarding disaster services immediately following an earthquake, or directions to the public during civil unrest. Among the agencies interviewed, warning communication is predominantly the responsibility of law enforcement agencies. Disaster service providers use several methods to communicate with the public. These emergency communication methods include use of the Emergency Alert System, press releases to the media, public announcements via police vehicles, bull horns, flyers, and recorded messages.

#### The Emergency Alert System and other media use

One of the most broadly known methods of emergency communication is the Emergency Alert System (EAS), a message produced by government agencies and broadcast on television and radio stations, overriding current programming. In addition to EAS messages, follow-up information can be provided to media via press releases and disseminated to the public via standard newscasts and publications. If a catastrophic disaster occurs in more than one jurisdiction, all affected agencies report to the Emergency Operation Center (EOC). The EOC coordinates information and releases a single message about what to do, resources available, and where to find assistance. Lead agencies in charge of the EOC in selected areas report having an extensive ethnic media contact list, which would receive press releases. The EOC of one county does not translate press releases and would rely on the ethnic media outlets to translate the material.

For emergencies within city boundaries, study cities report different levels of multilingual capacity. City service providers in one city with a large Latino population report full capacity to provide emergency information in Spanish. They report having frequent interaction with the Spanish-speaking media, Spanish-speaking public information officers, and strong Spanish capacity among police officers. Interviewees in another city with a large Chinese population, on the other hand, did not report strong relationships with the Chinese press nor having a significant Chinese-speaking capacity among staff.

"Even if mom, dad, and grand mom are monolingual Spanish, the boys and girls could translate."

Assistant Director of Community
Service of church

<sup>5</sup> A promotora is an outreach worker in the Latino community who is responsible for raising awareness of health and educational issues.

## 🔋 • Desastre • Nạn lụt • Earthquakes • 火 • Nơi trú tránh • Rescate • 水災 • Fires • Sự nhận thấy • Información

#### P.A. systems, bull horns, and flyers

While the Emergency Alert System may be most widely known, the most commonly used system of emergency communication involves in-person announcements via vehicle public announcement systems or bullhorns, which are exclusively the domain of first responders in a disaster, such as law enforcement agencies and fire departments. A county-level service provider reported the use of the P.A. system as common during emergencies:

"We've had numerous fires where an evacuation consists of deputies roaring into a neighborhood, slamming on the brakes, getting on the P.A. and say, 'Get out!' and leaving."

At the local level, some service providers reported in-person emergency communication might be available only in English. While one local interviewee suggested distribution of multilingual fliers, some first responders expressed a reliance on community members to provide translation for those that do not speak English with great proficiency. One local service provider reported this as a common practice that sufficiently provided communication in the past:

"We've always been able to find people; there's always one or two in the crowd that will translate for us. So, we are always able to communicate with everyone that is involved. We've never had a problem with that in our entire history as a city."

#### Public notification systems

One method of communicating with the public many disaster-preparedness managers are adopting or considering are public notification systems that send a recorded message to cell phones, land lines, pagers, and PDAs, in a designated geographic area. These communications systems are products of private companies and, according to one interviewee, cost about \$20,000 a year. One county is adopting the technology and determining how to transmit messages in multiple languages.

#### Disaster response services

Disaster response services referred to in this report include immediate services, not long-term recovery services. Services provided by first responders include evacuation, emergency medical help, and life and property protection. Non-first responder immediate assistance such as shelter, food, water, clothing, and emotional support are also included.

#### Coordination

Agencies report to the Emergency Operation Center (EOC) when a disaster affects multiple jurisdictions. The EOC coordinates resource allocation and use, and if resources are depleted at the county level, it coordinates with the state. In Southern California, some organizations have established agreements with other service providers or community agencies. One service provider that operates temporary shelters in emergencies also partners with schools, churches, community centers, and senior centers.

Tabletop discussions give agencies the opportunity to collaboratively discuss response services in hypothetical situations prior to a disaster. In areas we researched, discussions have not directly included immigrant and LEP populations. Practice drills also have been used but not directly involving LEP communities, with an interviewee stating the inclusion of LEP groups would be incidental rather than a focus.

Interviewees generally noted that there should be more focus on special communities because it becomes a crucial issue in a real crisis.

#### Language capacity

At the county level, the Sheriff's Department in one county has the capacity to communicate in 26 languages. It is also networked with many county agencies from which assistance can be pulled such as the Department of Public Health, which has extensive language capacity. But it is not clear how accessible that bilingual or

"We've had numerous fires where an evacuation consists of deputies roaring into a neighborhood, slamming on the brakes, getting on the P.A. and say, 'Get out!' and leaving."

County-level first responder

犬況・Flood・hông tin・¡Socorro!・cứu tôi・災難・Inundaciones・động đất・幫助・Emergency・lửa・Refugio・∃ otos・Shelter・cứu thoát・地震・Desastre・Nạn lụt・Earthquakes・火・Nơi trú tránh・Rescate・水災・Fires・

multilingual assistance is in the field when responding to the public during a disaster. The Sheriff's Department in the other county has staff fluent in Spanish, Korean, Chinese, and Thai. It has access to a Mutual Aid program with bilingual speakers, bilingual phone lines, and an AT&T connection with over 1200 languages.

At the local city level, the police department in two cities has staff fluent in the four major languages of their cities—Korean, Vietnamese, English, and Spanish. The fire department in one of these cities has only two full-time Vietnamese-speaking, several Spanish-speaking fire fighters, and a dispatch center that can speak 10 different languages. The police department in the third city appears to be well staffed with officers bilingual in Spanish, while the police in the fourth city appear to be not well staffed in officers bilingual in Spanish or Chinese. Some of these agencies state that they are part of area-wide mutual aid agreements that network area service providers. Through these mutual aid agreements, they would be able to put a call out for assistance in a language that they needed and staff from other cities would be able to come to their assistance.

The police department and the fire department in the selected cities state that they subscribe to a system that provides translation service over the phone to their staff in the field that is available 24 hours a day. The representative from the one fire department said that they also have laminated cards that have key words in different languages, but that he doubted that the fire specialists use them.

The faith-based and nonprofit agencies that provide immediate assistance have varying levels of language capacities. The response director for one nonprofit service provider said that while they do have some multi-lingual volunteers, they do have a need for more volunteers that are multilingual. He said that they especially have a need among volunteers in leadership positions.

#### Identification and legal status

While first responders reported that immigration status had no impact on receiving disaster response services, relief agencies that provide assistance such as shelter were unclear whether identification or resident status would be required to receive services.

"During the time of disaster, I can only...hope that we would take care of public safety first and worry about the other barriers later...If people are afraid to come get the help they need, then we are defying our purpose and our role of taking a public safety job."

Many cited language barriers as a major challenge in disasterpreparedness education.

#### Challenges

"I'm sure there are barriers, but do we know them?...Vaguely."

—Director of a nonprofit emergency response organization

#### Language barriers in preparedness education

Many cited language barriers as a major challenge in disaster-preparedness education. Most agencies expressed the desire to increase their capacity to conduct trainings or workshops in multiple languages. A police officer in one city was unable to communicate outside of English in several community trainings and felt uncertain whether to use a whiteboard, a child as a translator, or a stranger to translate. Lack of translated literature also is an issue. The Sheriff's Department in one county expressed a desire to increase the number of languages for their publications. Many cited a lack of funding for translations, even when using community partners.

#### Translation services for disaster response

There is a critical need for translations to provide critical information to communities before and during disasters. All first responders interviewed expressed a desire and willingness to increase services in other languages. One interviewee stressed the importance of bilingual staff rather than translation services:

"Really bilingual workers and staff is our choice because clearly using translators is much slower—this would be our aim."

While some service providers reported having no difficulty locating translators among community members, they also reported that children are commonly used as translators for victims. This raises concerns about the competency of children to provide translation during critical times and for complex issues. The impact this role could have on children is also of concern.

#### Cultural differences

Many of the disaster service providers were aware of the importance of cultural sensitivity in serving diverse communities, but few provided their staff and volunteers with training on cultural awareness. For example, one local first responder of a city that is more than one-third Chinese commented that their officers do not receive any cultural training and that staff learn about such issues while "on the job." In addition, some communities may not be willing to listen to preparedness training taught by women and the use of a warning siren could have different meanings in other countries.

Successfully informing the LEP community about available services can be difficult.

#### Coordination among providers

Many agencies are pursuing educational campaigns with efforts to educate ethnic communities.

Currently, there are several with different messages and images. For example, several agencies have different styles of brochures that explain how to prepare a disaster kit. These campaigns have their materials translated at least into Spanish.

Multiple efforts may end up confusing the public, however. Rather than each agency running an independent campaign, they could better serve LEP communities if they worked together to create one public campaign with a consistent message. For example, creating one brochure would cut costs across the board. The same would be more efficient for trainings, workshops, and other outreach efforts.

Coordination also provides opportunities to discuss what methods work. A county service provider stated:

"The idea of sharing best practices is the best route to go. But since this concept [targeting and planning for these groups] is so new...nothing has come down the pipe that says we've been successful with targeting Vietnamese...or Hispanic populations. If one of those does come down the pipe, then we'll absolutely partner with them..."

#### Involving community and ethnic organizations

Successfully informing the LEP community about available services can be difficult. One Latino community organization stated it's a challenge to get people to come even to free classes when they don't know what's available to them.

In light of this, community organizations play a significant role in improving outreach efforts. Two community groups interviewed expressed an interest in enhancing disaster outreach but have not been engaged in it. An interviewee at a Latino community organization stated:

"If our organization has the materials and we could educate the community—that would be a good thing."

One way to improve communication is by using centers and locations where people feel the most comfort and trust. A representative of a Latino community organization stated,

"They [service providers] need to be more involved with community centers, neighborhood associations—let people know that they're available for these disasters."

Ethnic organizations also can facilitate trust between providers and communities. County service providers noted this need and one stated,

"I think when you learn how to gain trust from them, that'll be the secret to your success. And until we learn how to do that exactly, I don't know that we'll find the perfect recipe."

#### Suggestions for service improvement

To address these challenges, we provide the following suggestions:

#### Disaster-preparedness education

- Increase relationships with ethnic community organizations, ethnic community leaders, and ethnic media outlets to help develop culturally competent campaigns and plan appropriate methods of dissemination to communities.
- Increase the availability and frequency of informational materials, trainings, workshops, and outreach in multiple languages.
- Increase public service announcements and print information in the ethnic media.
- Mainstream disaster agencies should hire bilingual liaisons that also serve as volunteer recruitment agents and as bilingual volunteers in times of disaster.

#### Warning communication services

- Identify areas of the county that need emergency messages in multiple languages and establish systems to provide them.
- Increase community education and media campaigns about warning communication systems, such as mailing fliers, expanding programs such as CERT, and broadcasting more testing and public service announcements.
- Incorporate in emergency planning methods how to communicate with the LEP population, including a list of professionally trained translators and an assessment of best methods of communication, and develop relationships with community leaders.
- Prepare standard emergency messages likely to be sent via EAS and prepare translations of these messages in the various languages.
- Plan how to link ethnic media to media networks during times of disaster and incorporate ethnic media in a plan to distribute emergency information in multiple languages.

#### Disaster response services

- Account for the language needs of the community as well as language capabilities of first responders; conduct survey of first responders and community members to determine how rapidly language assistance is available and where capacity lacks.
- Assess the impact on emergency services of family members, particularly children, who conduct translations.
- Include simulation of responding to LEP communities in first responder trainings and exercises; involve CBOs serving LEP populations in trainings and exercises to gather feedback.
- Mainstream agencies must sustain outreach to ethnic communities beyond the immediate aftermath
  of disaster by continuing to build partnerships and evaluating, testing, and refining plans for disaster
  services. This can include employing the best methods to gain the trust of ethnic communities, overcoming cultural barriers, and deepening civic involvement of newer residents.
- Local homeland security departments also charged with preparedness and response functions must separate their immigration enforcement duties from the community response and outreach duties, especially in times of disaster, when assisting their communities could be compromised by a close relationship with immigration authorities.

"The idea of sharing best practices is the best route to go. But since this concept [targeting and planning for these groups] is so new...nothing has come down the pipe that says we've been successful with targeting Vietnamese...or Hispanic populations. If one of those does come down the pipe, then we'll absolutely partner with them..."

County service provider

## **Experiences of Immigrant Community Members**

Four focus groups in Southern California were conducted to explore issues of disaster preparedness and emergency response for low-income, immigrant, LEP communities. Participants discussed several topics, including perceived risks of disaster, emergency-preparedness planning and supplies, sources of emergency information, warning communication knowledge, perceptions of emergency response personnel, and accessing hard to reach populations. Though the findings can not be generalized, they reflect important themes.

**TABLE 2. Focus Group Participant Demographics** 

Characteristic	Category	Number (N=48)	Percent
Race/Ethnicity	Latino	22	46%
	Chinese	15	31%
	Vietnamese	11	23%
Nativity	Foreign-born	38	79%
	Native-born	10	21%
English Ability	Not at all	7	15%
	Not very well	28	58%
	Well	4	8%
	Very well	9	19%
Age	25 to 35 yrs	5	13%
	35 to 45 yrs	12	32%
	45 to 55 yrs	17	45%
	55 to 65 yrs	4	11%
Gender	Male	16	33%
	Female	32	67%
Children present in	Yes	29	60%
the household	No	19	40%
Educational Attainment	Less than high school	10	21%
	High school degree	24	50%
	College degree	14	29%
Annual Income	Less than \$30,000	27	56%
	\$30,000 to \$60,000	19	40%
	\$60,000 to \$100,000	1	2%
	Decline to state	1	2%

#### Perceived likelihood of disaster

While most Vietnamese participants believed that a disaster was not very likely in the area, most Chinese participants felt that a disaster was possible. Latino respondents also thought that a disaster could occur at any moment and thought their communities were most susceptible to earthquakes. One Latino participant stated:

"A natural disaster is something that is unforeseen, and I think that it could happen in a couple of years, tomorrow or today. Right now we are living through the fires and supposedly scientists say that in any moment a big earthquake can hit."

#### Personal preparedness

#### Inadequate disaster-response knowledge

Respondents in all four groups offered conflicting actions to take after a disaster such as an earthquake, including crawling under tables or desks, avoiding windows, avoiding wires and cables, seeking shelter in the bathroom or walk-in closet, running outside, or going out into the driveway. Apartment dwellers were especially confused and lacked knowledge about the appropriate actions to take regarding the gas line to their residence. Members of the Latino groups reported that they would not be able to meet their basic needs because they were ill-prepared and uninformed. One said:

"Well, I think that in a major disaster—that I hope God does not make it happen—that people would stay with nothing, without a house or anything, and that we would be millions of people, what would happen to us? What are we going to do? Where are we going to live?"

Latino members also said that they have heard conflicting instructions about what actions to take during an earthquake. One respondent commented:

"I heard that you aren't supposed to [get under the table] either. And in the schools, since I used to help out a lot, they would do drills and all of the kids would go under the tables, and now I have heard that you aren't supposed to do that, so now I'm not going to that either."

#### Disaster preparedness kit

Participants in all groups readily listed basic emergency kit supplies such as non-perishable or dry foods, water, medication, flashlight, radio, personal documents and deeds, clothes, and blankets. All participants discussed the need to be self-reliant for a few days after a disaster since rescue services may not arrive immediately. One Latino participant stated:

"It is important that in a case like a major disaster, one is going to have to fend for themselves because the police and the firefighters are not going to be able to help everyone. I think that one needs to have the resources to be able to sustain themselves while the authorities get help and all that because something of that magnitude...they may not be able to help."

Yet only two of the 24 participants in the two Latino focus groups had an emergency kit at home, though all agreed it is very important to have one. Half of Chinese participants said they had some form of an emergency kit, and 8 out of 11 Vietnamese participants (73 percent) said they had a kit. It is not clear how well stocked the emergency kits were. Several Latino participants commented that they had various supplies available at home such as cans of food, medicine, flashlight, radio, emergency blanket, and camping supplies.

#### Family disaster plan

Most participants were unfamiliar with having a family disaster plan or a communication plan including an out-of-state contact. Some members of the Latino groups discussed possible meeting places such at a park and outside contacts, but it was not clear whether all family members knew the plan and contact numbers.

Three of the eleven Vietnamese participants said they had a family disaster communication plan. A Chinese member stated he believed that disasters happened at night when family members are together, so there was not a need for a family communication plan. Only a few participants in the Chinese and Vietnamese groups had a pre-arranged meeting place such as a relative's home. When discussing possible meeting places, Chinese participants identified locations such as church or an open nearby place or park. If both land lines and cell phones proved unavailable, both Chinese and Vietnamese participants were at a loss as to family communication.

"We have to be shown and told what to do because we may have our own idea what to do, but it may not be right."

Latino focus group participant

## 🖁 • Desastre • Nạn lụt • Earthquakes • 火 • Nơi trú tránh • Rescate • 水災 • Fires • Sự nhận thấy • Información

#### Barriers to preparedness

#### Lack of awareness and urgency

The majority of responses from all groups reflected the lack of awareness about the need to make disaster preparations. In the Vietnamese group, comments focused on a lack of understanding about the importance and necessity of being prepared. Latinos also expressed a lack of awareness but said they were not prepared because many had not experienced a natural disaster before. A Latina group member said she had not thought about making an emergency kit.

Perspectives in the Chinese group included a lacking sense of urgency and thinking about doing something but not following with action. Latino group members also referred to the same reasons, saying "la desidia" prevented them from becoming more prepared. A Latino respondent said there needs to be more preparedness education.

#### Lack of children in the household

Some respondents said that they were unaware of disaster preparedness since they did not have children to bring information from school. One person in the Chinese group stated there did not seem to be as much emphasis on preparation since their children were grown. The Latina participant who said she did not think about being prepared said she might have considered it if she had small children.

#### Cost of emergency kits

Members of the native-born Latino group discussed the need for low-cost emergency kits. However, both the Asian language and foreign-born Latino groups said that expense is not a barrier to preparedness and that materials are readily available. A Vietnamese commented:

"Oh no, no. [The cost of emergency kits] is not the problem. Everything is already at home."

#### Lack of time, space, and resources

Both Asian groups said they did not have time to deal with disaster preparedness. One member of the Vietnamese group explained that she shared a room, which made her living area too small to store disaster supplies. One Chinese participant said she felt overwhelmed by laborious preparations with too many details:

"Because when I'm putting together the kit, I feel everything is needed. And so it becomes more and more laborious and the choice is more and more difficult. A helmet, a gas mask, etc. are all important, water, so you get a big pile of water bottles. So nothing can be confined in a compact little bag."

#### Lack of personal experience with disasters; cynicism born of past experiences

Chinese participants shared knowledge of disasters such as earthquakes in their homelands including mainland China and Taiwan. A Chinese participant said he experienced the September 21, 1999 earthquake in Taiwan (known as the Chi Chi earthquake, measuring 7.3, causing 2,416 deaths) and from that experience he felt preparation was useless. A Latino respondent said his experience in preparing for Y2K had made him cynical about the need for preparedness.

Past experiences motivated some respondents to think about disaster preparedness. One participant among the two Latino groups experienced a hurricane in Mexico and another was affected by a house fire. Only one of 11 Vietnamese participants had experienced an earthquake—the 1994 earthquake in Southern California.

"If you can have some cars with speakers that would move around to let people know... bilingual...Vietnamese and English...because I don't understand English."

Vietnamese focus group participant

犬況・Flood・hông tin・¡Socorro!・cứu tôi・災難・Inundaciones・động đất・幫助・Emergency・lửa・Refugio・∃ otos・Shelter・cứu thoát・地震・Desastre・Nạn lụt・Earthquakes・火・Nơi trú tránh・Rescate・水災・Fires・

Most expressed a lack of awareness or concern for potential disasters in Southern California, citing lack of exposure. A Latino participant noted:

"We need to get educated in [preparedness]. Personally, I don't have anything in my house, not even an emergency kit or anything because...it hasn't happened to us..."

#### Exposure to disaster-preparedness education

#### Media outlets

Both Vietnamese and Chinese groups said they have heard information about disaster preparedness from respective ethnic media outlets such as newspapers, radio, and television. Participants said both radio and newspapers have reported disasters in Vietnam and worldwide. They had also heard about preparing for a disaster via radio, newspaper, and Web sites. The Chinese group said Chinese radio stations air reminders about earthquake preparedness. Chinese newspapers also provide public warnings such as high temperatures and limiting the use of water. Group participants also said they received information from English public television stations, Chinese Yellow Pages and its Web site, which provides links to government agencies.

The foreign-born Latino group listed various Spanish language media as sharing information such as preparing emergency kits and what actions to take during a disaster. Although Latinos said that they would rely on Spanish language media to receive information about disaster preparedness, they said that commercials they had seen on the television were not very informative and did not provide adequate information; that they needed someone to show them exactly what to do. One male respondent indicated:

"We have to be shown and told what to do because we may have our own idea what to do, but it may not be right."

#### Schools and other sources

All four groups had received disaster-preparedness information that children had brought home from school. Latino participants said materials included informational pamphlets occasionally accompanied by items for emergency kits, such as emergency blankets. Chinese participants noted this as effective:

"The school has been educating the children, and they come home and then tell us. This is effective."

"Give it to schools, and let the children bring it home. Nowadays, the parents are really paying a lot of attention to the children. Whatever the children say is the word of law to parents. Anything coming from the school, you have to support it."

Chinese participants also noted receiving information from utility companies, churches, and bilingual city hall flyers. One Chinese participant said the fire department showed an English video at her church about preparedness. The Vietnamese group said a nonprofit disaster service organization provided preparedness workshops in Vietnamese at a local community center.

#### Education in countries of origin

Only members of the Chinese group discussed exposure to disaster-preparedness education overseas, both in mainland China and in Taiwan. One Chinese participant said she had heard about disaster preparedness related to the 1976 Tangshan Earthquake, and another had received information in mainland China through a program called "Planning Together." Taiwanese participants said earthquakes were frequent in Taiwan, and information was in newspapers, periodicals, and school curricula.

"If I can't understand the English, then I wait 'til the next day to hear it from the Chinese radio station. I'll be like, 'Oh, that's what it was talking about,' the next day."

Chinese focus group participant

## • Desastre • Nạn lụt • Earthquakes • 火 • Nơi trú tránh • Rescate • 水災 • Fires • Sự nhận thấy • Información

#### Suggestions for improving preparedness education

#### **Pamphlet**

All groups recommended giving community members attractively designed pamphlets with vivid, easily understandable illustrations to encourage saving or sharing. A Vietnamese participant emphasized:

"A handbook or brochure because you want to read it and save it so you can absorb and learn about it. ...It should be bilingual so that when I finish reading it, I would give it to my friends and other relatives."

Chinese participants suggested printing easy-to-understand pictographic icons, and also recommended providing a magnet with information or a small card with a color code to explain emergency alert levels.

#### Media outlets

Both the Chinese and the Vietnamese groups placed great emphasis on the use of respective ethnic media outlets to provide disaster-preparedness education. Both groups felt that particularly newspapers and radio were used extensively by their communities and would be the most cost-effective and wide-reaching communication tool. The Vietnamese group emphasized that radio programs were probably the most far-reaching since the radio can be listened to all day, including while driving or even while at work:

"I have such a busy life and, like everybody else, if they can have...such a program on the radio, then it would be helpful."

The Vietnamese newspaper Web site was suggested as a good place to provide information. The Chinese group recommended sending materials with home-delivered newspapers.

Latino participants in general said that there needs to be more publicity and more information made available to their communities. Suggestions included placing commercials during novelas (Spanish soap opera television shows) to reach women. Another suggestion was placing clips before movies at the movie theater or during commercials breaks of televised soccer games.

#### Local government education

Both Latino and Asian participants recommended that cities provide disaster-preparedness education in local newsletters or newspapers mailed to residences. The native-born Latino group and the Chinese group said their cities already mail a bilingual newspaper or newsletter to residents regularly, and that disaster information could easily be a regular feature.

The Vietnamese and native-born Latino group recommended that the city hold functions to educate the community, but the Chinese group did not think this would be an effective way to reach the community, even bilingually. They thought not many would attend and that sending materials home via city circulars would be more effective:

"I think on the newsletters sent out by the City Hall, they should have advertisement every time. It should be in (multiple) languages to remind us: Are you prepared? Reminding us we should prepare for a disaster. Not just one piece of paper to stick, no matter how pretty it may be."

#### Locations for education

Participants in all four focus groups recommended city halls, schools, community organizations, senior centers, and churches as places to make disaster-preparedness education available to their communities. Latino participants also suggested parks, soccer games, and swap meets. Asian participants additionally listed ethnic festivals, health fairs, community groups (e.g., the Chinese University Alumni Association), medical offices, and ethnic grocery stores. Chinese participants also suggested organizing groups from churches to take steps such as purchasing materials for emergency kits.

"A handbook or brochure because you want read it and save it so you can absorb and learn about it. ... It should be bilingual so that when I finished reading it, I would give it to my friends and other relatives."

Vietnamese focus group participant

犬況•Flood•hông tin•¡Socorro!•cứu tôi•災難•Inundaciones•động đất•幫助•Emergency•lửa•Refugio•∃ otos•Shelter•cứu thoát•地震•Desastre•Nạn lụt•Earthquakes•火•Nơi trú tránh•Rescate•水災•Fires•

Foreign-born Latino participants emphasized that mandating disaster-preparedness education would be the only way to ensure informed residents. Recommendations include obligating employers, apartment managers, or schools to provide such information. Participants also recommended that politicians develop initiatives to mandate disaster training before parents enroll children in school.

#### Community organizations

The foreign-born Latino group identified churches as places where the community receives helpful information on a variety of topics ranging from immigration to housing. Community organizations such as Hermandad Mexicana, MALDEF, LULAC, and the Mexican Consulate also were mentioned as possibly helping educate the Latino community. Participants were less comfortable receiving services from Latino organizations, which some had found not as helpful. One respondent stated:

"But even [Latino organizations] don't help. My brother was trying to become a citizen and they told him, 'You need to become a member. You need to pay \$150.00.' It is supposed [to be] that this organization is to help you. I told them, 'Why is it that he has to pay \$150.00?' And they said, 'It's \$90 for the application and they will fill out the application for you.' And I asked, 'The \$150 is for what?' They told me, 'If he is not a member of this organization, then we cannot help him.' So which organization can we go to ask for help?"

The foreign-born Latino group recommended that Latino community organizations take a larger role in disaster preparedness. One member stated:

"I think that our Latino organizations need to take a big role...at least Latinos need to take initiative and give it importance. Or at least they need to educate us in that field."

#### Language needs

Both Asian groups overwhelmingly stressed the need for materials, workshops, trainings, or town hall meetings in their languages. One participant commented that if children were present in the home, English would be adequate. Others said they would discard written information not provided in a bilingual form, and that they would not attend a meeting or event if spoken information was not in their language.

#### Knowledge of warning communications

When asked how emergency information should be communicated to their communities, all four focus groups pointed to the radio as the first source, and the Chinese, Vietnamese, and foreign-born Latino groups named radio stations in their native languages as their main source of information. The foreign-born Latino group also mentioned television and apartment managers. The Asian language groups both mentioned patrol cars disseminating information in English via loudspeakers, but also noted it would not be bilingual. Cell phones and text messages were suggested in both Asian groups to receive emergency communications. Other methods discussed by the Asian groups included flyers, Internet, emails, and reverse 911 calls.

In the event of a disaster, the Chinese and Vietnamese groups said it is essential to provide emergency information in their languages because of the risk of misunderstanding critical instructions. Both groups also emphasized the use of ethnic radio broadcasts as the most effective media for communicating rapidly to their communities. A Chinese participant said:

"When we watch English news, it's not because our English is good to understand the whole program. It's because there is a big fire, you need to follow where the fires are going, how many people have been evacuated, how many firefighters were sent to the site...However, If there is really an urgent situation happening, then the Chinese broadcast comes to the first place because you might misunderstand the directions. Say the government wants you to go east, but you run west instead."

When asked how emergency information should be communicated to their communities, all four focus groups pointed to the radio as the first source...

#### The 2007 Southern California wildfires

The focus groups were held in mid-November 2007, less than a week after the last of the 2007 Southern California wildfires was fully contained. None of the groups were directly affected, but wildfires burned in neighboring areas. All groups said the wildfires were discussed by their respective ethnic news sources.

The Chinese group watches a daily television news show in their language but said when immediate emergency information is needed, they turn to English news channels. One way the Chinese-speaking viewers follow English news coverage is to watch follow-up Chinese broadcasts. Participants said they often find this clarifies what they heard in English. Closed captioning has also helped some better understand English news.

#### **Emergency response issues**

All four groups were familiar with traditional first responders such as police, firefighters, and the Red Cross. All groups also mentioned other community organizations such as churches, temples, and charity organizations that would respond in the event of a disaster.

#### Concerns about safety

Only one member of the Chinese group suggested the possibility that there may be confusion from traditional first responders assisting their communities. All other Chinese participants did not foresee problems when served by local police, fire departments, or other first responders.

The Vietnamese group, on the other hand, raised several issues about first responders serving their communities. Concerns about panic and lack of order were raised, as was a potential lack of organization among first responders. One person said:

"They don't know who to help. There are a lot of agencies that would be coming by. They wouldn't know...There would be people that would be helped twice where other people haven't been helped yet."

#### Language barriers

Both Latino groups felt language was not a barrier because police officers and residents often are bilingual in Spanish and English. Nevertheless, they indicated being uncomfortable with someone who spoke only English because comprehension on both ends would be limited.

When asked about personal interactions with local police and fire departments, both Asian groups only had positive experiences to share. The Chinese group said the police department was very nice, interpreters were available for events such as court hearings, and Chinese-speaking police officers were often accessible, but not always available. One Chinese participant noted:

"I would feel that if a white policeman comes along, you cannot communicate properly, effectively, even if you were nodding your head..."

Some members of the Vietnamese group also said personal experiences with local police had been helpful when a Vietnamese interpreter was available. Language was raised as a potential problem in responding to seniors, though, who have lower levels of English proficiency. It also was noted that seniors are less mobile and more vulnerable, but others in the group were confident that first responders would be able to take care of everybody, including the elderly, in a responsible manner.

#### Relationships with the police department

The two Latino groups and the Vietnamese group lacked comfort with police department services. When asked if they would feel better with police or other providers in their neighborhood, the foreign-born Latino

Both Latino groups felt language was not a barrier because police officers and residents often are bilingual in Spanish and English. 犬況•Flood•hông tin•¡Socorro!•cứu tôi•災難•Inundaciones•động đất•幫助•Emergency•lửa•Refugio•¡ otos•Shelter•cứu thoát•地震•Desastre•Nạn lụt•Earthquakes•火•Nơi trú tránh•Rescate•水災•Fires•

group preferred the fire department or a nonprofit disaster service organization to police. The native-born Latino group complained that the police department is slow to respond; that the fire department responds more quickly. Foreign-born Latinos' comments included:

"People don't trust the police; they trust the fire department more."

"The police doesn't help you."

"I don't know why [the police] call themselves the protectors."

One Vietnamese participant said she would trust police during a disaster, but several other Vietnamese participants discussed a general fear of police, which seemed to be rooted in having had interactions that resulted in consequences such as fines or tickets. Responses included:

"I'm kind of afraid to stay in touch with the police."

"I heard that police officers, they only come to your house for a bad problem, right?"

"Whenever a police shows up at your house, there will be a problem. That's why I'm afraid. Just like the police officers in Viet Nam."

#### Discrimination, racism, and cultural differences

Both Latino groups raised the issue of discrimination and racism by police. The foreign-born group noted unfair treatment based on race. It was felt that police do not serve blacks and Latinos in the same way that they serve white residents. One foreign-born member said she called the police about a dispute with an apartment manager and did not receive any help, which she felt discriminatory because the manager was "from here" and she was not. A native-born member said:

"Spanish people are very humble. They get treated like crap everywhere, and they don't say nothing, they don't complain. So when the police do come out to try to help them, they just give them a slap in the face."

A foreign-born member said:

"There is a lot of racism here [toward] the Latinos. They don't want us here."

The Vietnamese group discussed the impact of cultural differences and the potential for bias among service providers, such as prejudicial beliefs about a community, residents of other national origins, or religious differences. It was mentioned that Vietnamese might have "a different way of doing things," and these cultural differences could affect services. Other participants said they did not see a potential for cultural differences interfering with disaster-response services and that safety and life-saving would be the priority. They had confidence that first responders would not be affected by cultural differences. One Vietnamese group member raised the issue of disaster-response agencies unable to identify all the groups in need, that some may be helped twice while others may not receive assistance.

#### Immigrants and access to services

Both the Chinese and Vietnamese groups agreed all immigrants would have access to emergency services. They found the issue of safety most important, that first responders would not be biased based on immigration status. Still, they thought undocumented immigrants might not seek services for fear of deportation. A Chinese participant noted:

"But there are some people who have not become legal yet. They would avoid contact with authorities, because they might be afraid that once asked about their status, then they would expose their illegal status."

The native-born Latino group complained that the police department is slow to respond; that the fire department responds more quickly.

· · Desastre · Nan lut · Lartinquakes · 火 · Noi tru trann · Rescate · 水火 · Fires · Sự nhạn thay · Informacion · cấp · 資訊 · Help! · Incendios · Rescue · 瞭解 · Information · Emergencia · Awareness · 隱蔽所 · Tai họa ·

One Latino focus group participant said police called immigration to take people away, and this is why people call the paramedics instead of the police, or stay quiet and "help yourself however you can."

Both Latino groups said Latinos fearing deportation would not seek help from police. The native-born group discussed how the police have given this impression by setting up checkpoints to check identification of drivers in cars and impounding cars if no identification could be provided. Another participant said she knew of a student who was deported. A foreign-born member said that a niece was deported when they picked up an impounded car.

The 2007 San Diego fires were raised by both Latino groups as an example of the police involving immigration enforcement when serving a community in disaster. The foreign-born group said the police were discriminatory, that those without documentation were not helped. One member said police called immigration to take people away, and this is why people call the paramedics instead of the police, or stay quiet and "help yourself however you can." It was discussed that there was confusion in San Diego about those who needed help and those who may have been trying to take advantage of assistance such as food and clothing, but the ultimate sentiment was that such incidents prompt a lack of trust for the police department among community members.

#### **Conclusions and Recommendations**

Due to worldwide media coverage, the frequency of disasters occurring in urban communities is now apparent. The Southern California region, one of the hemisphere's largest urban areas, is subject to the same probabilities of such an event taking place. While traditional English language materials are available throughout the area, there is an apparent lack of such materials available in minority language communities.

Disaster service personnel in both government agencies and nonprofit organizations have a key role in improving disaster preparedness among LEP communities through dissemination of educational materials and encouraging community participation in trainings and workshops. First responders and immediate relief groups shoulder the responsibility of addressing the disaster response needs of immigrants and LEP populations in their service areas. The following recommendations are offered to better serve these populations:

1. Disaster service personnel, both in government agencies and in nonprofit organizations, should evaluate the language needs of the population in their service areas.

Disaster preparedness educators and response personnel need to be aware of the demographics of the population being served, identifying special needs such as LEP rates and numbers in the population by language spoken. Studies have shown that cultural differences between native and immigrant populations can also become a barrier when rendering disaster related services. Becoming familiar with potential cultural barriers between service providers and the community to be served can help to increase effectiveness in education and response.

2. Local providers should ensure simulation exercises cover topics such as language resources available and their anticipated utilization during the course of a disaster.

Given the high rates of LEP individuals in Southern California, first responders and relief organizations need to be appraised of the language capacities of their staff and volunteers. Additionally, since many service providers do not have sufficient language capacities among their personnel, plans for providing translation support in the field need to be evaluated for effectiveness during critical response activities.

3. Working groups should be established to connect government agencies with the ethnic communities they serve.

State and local governments should establish working groups with service personnel, nonprofit organizations serving ethnic communities, and ethnic media on how to better promote preparedness education and improve response among immigrant and LEP populations. These networks can also help in sharing best practices in serving these special needs communities.

**4.** Federal and state governments should create a baseline of minimal secondary language resources for diverse jurisdictions.

To ensure that large concentrations of LEP populations are not being left out of disaster preparedness education and disaster response planning, language requirements should be established for areas that meet population thresholds.

5. It should be made clear to first responders, the immigrant community, and to the public in general that disaster relief is not conditional on immigration status.

While all first responders interviewed report that immigration status is not a consideration when rendering disaster services, many among the immigrant community are still fearful that their status will come into question.

"Vietnamese people have different ways of doing things. Other people prefer different things. You know, in a certain order, they would prefer it the other way around, so that's why the cultural differences would come into being."

Vietnamese focus group Participant

#### References

2007 Working Group on California Earthquake Probabilities (2008). The Uniform California Earthquake Rupture Forecast, Version 2 (UCERF 2): US Geological Survey Open-File Report 2007-437 and California Geological Survey Special Report 203. Retrieved from <a href="http://pubs.usgs.gov/of/2007/1437">http://pubs.usgs.gov/of/2007/1437</a>

Andrulis, Dennis R., Siddiqui, Nadia J., and Gantner, Jenna L. (2007). Preparing Racially and Ethnically Diverse Communities for Public Health Emergencies. *Health Affairs*, 26 (5), 1269-1279.

Arrieta R. M. (2006). Disastrous Inequality. Colorlines, July-Aug.

Asian American Justice Center (2007). Hurricane Katrina: Models for Effective Emergency Response in the Asian American Community.

Bacon, D. (2006). Looking for Common Ground. Colorlines, 32.

Bernstein, J. (2005) Features That Should be Included in Hurricane Katrina Relief, National Immigration Law Center. September 19, 2005.

Bernstein, S. (2006, September 17). Most L.A. Buildings Not Checked for Damage from Northridge Quake. Los Angeles Times. Accessed 09/17/06.

Bernstein, S. (2006, July 9). Officials Still Readying for the Big One. Los Angeles Times.

Bernstein, S. (2005, September 17). Southland Not Ready for a Disaster. Los Angeles Times.

Blanchard, C. (2006, May 1). Lost in Translation: The Tornado Siren; Emergency Officials Want All Immigrants to Understand the Dangers of Storms. *Star Tribune* (Minneapolis, MN).

Bolin, R., and Stanford, L. (1998). The Northridge Earthquake: Community-based Approaches to Unmet Recovery Needs. *Disasters*, 22 (1), 21-38.

Bolin, R., and Stanford, L. (1998). The Northridge Earthquake: Vulnerability and Disaster. New York: Routledge.

Browne-Dianis, J. and J. Lai, M. Hincapie, S. Soni (2006). And Injustice for All: Workers' Lives in the Reconstruction of New Orleans. Advancement Project, July 6, 2006.

Chiswick, Barry R., Miller, Paul W. (2005). Do Enclaves Matter in Immigrant Adjustment? City & Community, 4 (1), 5-35.

Choi, J.K. (2005) Current Challenges faced by Asian Americans and Hurricane Katrina: Highlights on Language Services and Physical and Mental Health Concerns. Asian American Justice Center, September 2005.

Christopher, Gail C. (2006, January/February). An Inclusive Approach to Emergency Preparedness, Focus, Joint Center for Political and Economic Studies.

City News Service. Inc. (2006, August 29). Emergency Preparedness Ads To Air on L.A. Radio Next Month. Accessed Lexus Nexus 09/17/06.

Comerio, Mary C. (1997). Housing Issues after Disasters. Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management, 5 (3), 166-178.

Cutter, S. L., C. T. Emrich, J.T. Mitchell, B.J. Boruff, et al (2006). The Long Road Home: Race, Class, and Recovery from Hurricane Katrina. *Environment*, 48 (2), 8-22.

Cutter, S. L. (2005, September 23). The Geography of Social Vulnerability: Race, Class, and Catastrophe. Retrieved from <a href="http://understandingkatrina.ssrc.org/Cutter/pf/">http://understandingkatrina.ssrc.org/Cutter/pf/</a>

Disaster Preparedness. (2005, November 18). CQ Researcher, 15 (41), 981-1004.

Eisenman, D.P., C. Wold, J Fielding, A. Long, C. Setodji, S. Hickey, L. Gelberg (2006). Differences in Individual-Level Terrorism Preparedness in Los Angeles County. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 30 (1), 1-6.

Eisenman, D.P., C. Wold, C. Setodji, S. Hickey, B. Lee, B.D. Stein, and A. Long (2004). Will Public Health's Response to Terrorism Be Fair? Racial/Ethnic Variations in Perceived Fairness During a Bioterrorist Event, Biosecurity and Bioterrorism. *Biodefense Strategy, Practice, and Science, 2* (3).

Enarson E., B.H. Morrow (1997). A Gendered Perspective, Hurricane Andrew: Ethnicity, Gender, and the Sociology of Disasters. New York: Routledge.

Enarson, Elaine (1998). Through Women's Eyes: A Gendered Research Agenda for Disaster Social Science. *Disasters*, 22 (2), 153-173.

伏況•Flood•hông tin•¡Socorro!•cứu tôi•災難•Inundaciones•động đất•幫助•Emergency•lửa•Refugio• notos•Shelter•cứu thoát•地震•Desastre•Nạn lụt•Earthquakes•火•Nơi trú tránh•Rescate•水災•Fires•

Fears, D. (2005, September 20). For Illegal Immigrants, Some Aid is Too Risky. The Washington Post.

Fothergill, A., and L.A. Peek (2004). Poverty and Disasters in the United States: A Review of Recent Sociological Findings. *Natural Hazards*, 32, 89-110.

Fothergill A., E. G. M. Maestas, and J. DeRouen Darlington (1999). Race, Ethnicity and Disasters in the United States: A Review of Literature. *Disasters*, 23 (2), 156-173.

Gilot, L. (2005, September 21). Katrina immigrants ordered to deportation court. El Paso Times.

Girard, C., W.G. Peacock (1997). Ethnicity and Segregation: Post-Hurricane Relocation, Hurricane Andrew: Ethnicity, Gender, and the Sociology of Disasters. New York: Routledge.

Gladwin H., W.G. Peacock (1997). Warning and Evacuation, Hurricane Andrew: Ethnicity, Gender, and the Sociology of Disasters. Routledge, New York.

Hegstrom, E. (2005, October 8). Vietnamese worry about the future of shrimping. Houston Chronicle.

Honda, M. (2006). Katrina One Year Later: Needs of Most Vulnerable Remain Unmet. August 29, 2006.

Hurricane Katrina Disaster Relief Services. (2005, September). National Council of La Raza (NCLR).

Kerwin, D. (2006). Two Disasters. Commonweal, 133 (10), 8, 2.

Le, U. (2006). The Invisible Tide: Vietnamese Americans in Biloxi, MS, National Alliance of Vietnamese American Service Agencies. August 26, 2006.

Little Hoover Commission, State of California (2002). Be Prepared: Getting Ready for New and Uncertain Dangers. Report #162, January 2002.

Little Hoover Commission, State of California (2003). To Protect and Prevent: Rebuilding California's Public Health System. Report #170, April 2003.

Little Hoover Commission, State of California (2005). Recommendations for Emergency Preparedness and Public Health. Report #170a June 2005.

Little Hoover Commission, State of California (2006). Safeguarding the Golden State: Preparing for Catastrophic Events. Report #184, April 2006.

Mattox, Kenneth (2001). The World Trade Center Attack Disaster Preparedness: Health Care is Ready, But is the Bureaucracy? *Critical Care*, 5 (6), 323-325.

McEntire, David A. (2004). The Status of Emergency Management Theory: Issues, Barriers, and Recommendations for Improved Scholarship, Paper Presented at the FEMA Higher Education Conference, 6/8. Emmitsburg, MD.

Miller, Kristen, and Nigg, Joanne M. (1993). Events and Consequence Vulnerability: Effects on the Disaster Recovery Process. *Disaster Research Center and Department of Sociology*.

Morita, Barbara. (2006). Prepare for the Worst. Colorlines, July-Aug.

Morrow, B.H. (1997). Stretching the Bonds, Hurricane Andrew: Ethnicity, Gender, and the Sociology of Disasters. New York: Routledge.

Muniz, B. (2006). In the Eye of the Storm: How the Government and Private Response to Hurricane Katrina Failed Latinos. National Council of La Raza, 2006.

Murguia, J. (2005, October 24). Injustice for Immigrants. Washington Post.

National Immigration Law Center (2005). Features That Should Be Included in Hurricane Katrina Relief. National Immigration Law Center, September 19, 2005.

Pang, G. Y.K. (2005, October 4). Language barrier endangers new immigrants in emergencies. The Honolulu Advertiser.

Peacock, W.G., C. Girard (1997). Ethnic and Racial Inequalities in Hurricane Damage and Insurance Settlements. *Hurricane Andrew: Ethnicity, Gender, and the Sociology of Disasters*. New York: Routledge.

Peguero, Anthony A. (2006). Latino Disaster Vulnerability: The Dissemination of Hurricane Mitigation Information Among Florida's Homeowners. *Hispanic Journal of Behavior Sciences*, 28 (1), 5-22.

Piper, P., M. Ramos (2006). A Failure to Communicate: Politics, Scams, and Information Flow During Hurricane Katrina. *Searcher*, 14 (6), 40-55.

• Desastre • Nạn lụt • Earthquakes • 火 • Nơi trú tránh • Rescate • 水災 • Fires • Sự nhận thấy • Información

Public Policy Institute of California. (2006, April). Disaster Perceptions and Preparedness, Just the Facts. Retrieved August 13, 2003, from <a href="http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/jtf/JTF\_DisasterPreparednessJTF.pdf">http://www.ppic.org/content/pubs/jtf/JTF\_DisasterPreparednessJTF.pdf</a>

Quinones, S. (2006, September 11). Many of Katrina Migrant Workers Go Unpaid. Los Angeles Times.

Rodriguez, C.M., E. Rovai, and S. E. Place (1997). Construction of the "Northridge" Earthquake in Los Angeles' English and Spanish Print Media: Damage, Attention, and Skewed Recovery. Center for Hazards Research, California State University, Chico, September 19, 1997.

State News Service (2005). Democratic Leadership, Latino and Asian Pacific Islander Advocates Discuss Immigrants' Challenges Post-Katrina. Office of Nevada Senator Harry Reid, Oct. 20, 2005.

Stewart, K. (2005, October 2). Minorities not disaster-ready. Salt Lake Tribune.

Subervi-Velez, Federico A., Denney, Maria, Ozuna, Anthony, Quintero, Clara, Palerm, Juan-Vicente. (1992). Communicating with California's Spanish-Speaking Populations During Emergencies. *CPS Brief, A Publication of the California Policy Seminar*, 4 (12).

Sullivan, Helen T., Häkkinen, Markku T. (2006). Disaster Preparedness for Vulnerable Populations: Determining Effective Strategies for Communicating Risk, Warning, and Response. Paper presented at the Third Annual Magrann Research Conference at Rutgers University, 04/21-04/22.

Swapan, A. (2006, September 5). Katrina Wounds Slow to Heal for South Asian Community. The Berkeley Daily Planet.

Tang, E. (2006). Boat People. Colorlines, 32 (Spring).

The San Diego Foundation. (2007, December 5). Community Needs Assessment Report: After-The-Fires Fund. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.sdfoundation.org/assessment/assessment07.pdf">http://www.sdfoundation.org/assessment/assessment07.pdf</a>

U.S. Equity News. (2006). Emergency Disaster Systems and TalkRadio 790 KABC to Supply Disaster Survival Kits to Los Angeles Area Residents Through September 8th - September 11th Radiothon. M2 Presswire. Accessed Lexus Nexus 09/17/06.

Vielman J. (2005). Thousands in the Gap: Exposing the needs of the underserved Asian/Pacific American community in Hurricane Katrina & Rita. Asian/Pacific American Heritage Association, Oct. 20, 2005.

Vigo, Garbriela Norma. (1996, May). Emergent Behavior in the Immediate Response to Two Disasters: The 1985 Mexico City Earthquake and the 1994 Northridge Earthquake in LA. Ann Arbor, Michigan: UMI Dissertation Services.

Wing, B. (2006). Ruin, Rubble & Race. Colorlines, July-Aug.

Weichselgartner, Juergen (2001). Disaster mitigation: The concept of vulnerability revisited. *Disaster Prevention and Management*. 10 (2), 85-94.

Weisner, Ben. (2001). "Vulnerability" in Disaster Theory and Practice: From Soup to Taxonomy, then to Analysis and Finally Tool, Disaster Studies of Wageningen University and Research Centre, paper presented at International Work-Conference, 6/29-6/30.

Whittier Daily News (California) (2006, August 26). Agencies prepare for next disaster. MediaNews Group, Inc. and Los Angeles Newspaper Group, Inc. Accessed Lexus Nexus 09/17/06.

Wire feed (2006). Gov. Arnold Schwarzenegger Signs Legislation to Boost California's Emergency Preparedness. U. S. Federal News Service, including U.S. State News. Washington, D.C.: May 17, 2006.

Wisner, B. Social Vulnerability: Assessment in Mexico City and Los Angeles.

Yelvington K. (1997). Coping in a Temporary Way, Hurricane Andrew: Ethnicity, Gender, and the Sociology of Disasters. New York: Routledge.

#### **FEEDBACK FORM**

## Disaster Preparedness in Urban Immigrant Communities:

Lessons Learned from Recent Catastrophic Events and Their Relevance to Latino and Asian Communities in Southern California

#### PLEASE RETURN SURVEY:

VIA U.S. MAIL TO: The Tomás Rivera Policy Institute University of Southern California School of Policy, Planning and Development 650 Childs Way, Lewis Hall, Suite 102 Los Angeles, California 90089-0626

OR FAX TO: 213-821-1976

1.	How useful is the report to you?
	□ Very Useful □ Useful □ Not Useful
2.	What did you like best about the report?
3.	What did you like least about the report?
4.	How will you use the data in the report?
5.	Do you have any other comments or suggestions on the report?



